

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

The Statistical Significance of Juvenile Delinquency and Learning **Disabilities**

Collette Erica Scandrett Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Public Administration Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Collette Erica Scandrett

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Carolyn Dennis, Committee Chairperson,
Criminal Justice Faculty

Dr. Michael Klemp-North, Committee Member, Criminal Justice Faculty

Dr. John Walker, University Reviewer, Criminal Justice Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

The Statistical Significance of Juvenile Delinquency and Learning Disabilities

by

Collette Erica Scandrett

MA, Purdue University Global, 2018

BS, DeVry University, 2016

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Criminal Justice

Walden University

February 2022

Abstract

Juvenile delinquency and recidivism have been consistent issues that seem to continually produce substantial numbers. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine learning disabilities among juveniles and determine their statistical significance to delinquency and recidivism. Durkheim's theory of anomie and Merton's anomie/strain theory were used as the theoretical framework to guide the study. Archived cases for 15,900 juveniles, 2,633 of whom were learning disabled, were collected from the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice and the South Carolina Department of Education. To provide additional context, age, race, and sex were also analyzed. Chisquare tests were used to analyze the data. The results showed that there was no statistical significance in juveniles with learning disabilities becoming delinquent versus those lacking learning disabilities. However, there was a statistical significance for juveniles with learning disabilities succumbing to recidivism versus those without learning disabilities. The positive social change implications of this study include recognizing the juvenile learning-disabled population and their contribution to the numbers of incarcerated juveniles and recidivism. This recognition could serve as a starting point for juvenile justice systems and education departments in the way of an overlooked population. From this point these stakeholders could determine if more tailored educational and diversion programs would serve as a way to lessen the number of learning-disabled juveniles becoming incarcerated and in turn recidivism.

The Statistical Significance of Juvenile Delinquency and Learning Disabilities

by

Collette Erica Scandrett

MA, Purdue University Global, 2018

BS, DeVry University, 2016

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Criminal Justice

Walden University

February 2022

Dedication

I am dedicating this work to my mother (Frances M. Grant). Although my mother transitioned from this life in October of 2018, she has remained an influence on my life. My mother always instilled the importance of an education and this accomplishment is the greatest form of gratitude I am able to show her. She will always influence my life and live on in my heart and hopefully now she can also live on forever in my words and accomplishments.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to give thanks to God for giving me the strength to not only pursue this accomplishment but gave me the strength to endure with everything going on in and around my life. My aunts and uncles for not only pushing me to continue on my academic journey but also continually encouraging me throughout the process. My cousins that encouraged and helped me through this long journey. My dissertation chair, Dr. Dennis, who not only helped me navigate this journey but always provided kind words that were so helpful during this process.

Table of Contents

Ch	napter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	8
	Purpose	8
	Research Questions and Hypotheses	9
	Theoretical Framework	10
	Nature of Study	12
	Definitions	12
	Assumptions	14
	Scope and Delimitations	15
	Limitations, Challenges, and/or Barriers	15
	Significance	16
	Summary	17
Ch	napter 2: Literature Review	18
	Literature Search Strategy	18
	Theoretical Foundation	19
	Durkheim's Theory of Anomie	19
	Merton's Theory of Anomie/Strain	21
	Review of Related Literature	23
	Prevalence of LDs	23
	Vulnerability	24

	Learning Disabled Youth More Likely to Engage in Delinquent Behavior	27
	Proper Training and Communication for Staff	29
	Lack of Understanding or Misinterpretation	31
	School-to-Prison Pipeline	32
	Differing Opinions About LDs and Juvenile Delinquency Link	33
	Learning Disabled Youth Referred to Juvenile System More Frequently	34
	Differential Treatment and Youth Giving Up	35
	Appropriateness of Charges	36
	Shift in Purpose of Juvenile Justice System	37
	Link to Recidivism	37
	Violent Offenses	38
	Mistaken for Attention Disorders or Co-occurring	39
	Summary	39
Cha	pter 3: Research Method	41
]	Research Questions	41
]	Research Design	43
]	Population and Sample Size	43
	Statistical Tests	44
]	Ethical Procedures	44
(Summary	45
Cha	pter 4: Results	46
J	Data Collection and Identification	46

	Population Demographics	47
	Chi-Square Tests	49
	Recidivism	50
	Findings Summary	52
Cł	napter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	54
	Nature of Study	55
	Interpretation of the Findings.	56
	Theoretical Framework	56
	Limitations of the Study	57
	Recommendations	58
	Implications	59
	Conclusion	60
\mathbf{R}_{ϵ}	eferences	61

List of Tables

Table 1.	Chi-Square Tests Within Whole Population Based on Gender	50
Table 2.	$\label{lem:continuous} \mbox{Chi-Square Tests Within Learning-Disabled Population Based on Gende} r$	50
Table 3.	Recidivism Rates for Total Population	51
Table 4.	Recidivism by Gender Within the Learning-Disabled Population	51
Table 5.	Recidivism by Gender Within non-Learning-Disabled Population	52

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

While there are numerous studies that reflect not only juvenile delinquency but also the fact that there is a link between learning disabilities (LDs) and juvenile delinquency, there are not many extant studies that focus on just the statistics of the situation. Most previous researchers looked into factors that lead to this population turning to delinquency, including peer influence, environment, and school achievements or lack thereof, and not many have established the numbers within the system of the learning-disabled population (Poon, 2015; Shelton, 2006). In other words, although it is known that they exist, it is not necessarily known just how much of the delinquent population is made up of learning-disabled youth. When considering recidivism, most researchers have seemed to look past underlying conditions like that of LDs and their likelihood to affect recidivism.

The purpose of this study was to establish if there was legitimate statistical evidence reflecting a significance in the juvenile learning-disabled with regard to juvenile delinquency and whether there was a significant statistical occurrence of recidivism. The age, race, and gender were also examined in this study. It has been established that there are a number of risk factors, including environment, parental involvement, and peer influence, that can help lead to juvenile delinquency, but there was a gap in showing those with LDs that may not have been capable of comprehending not only their wrong actions but the possible consequences that might occur because of these actions. Part of this gap was in the statistical sense of not only their percentage of the juvenile delinquent population but also in the relevance of these numbers. The vulnerability within the

juveniles with LDs population could lead to not only misinterpretation by those in positions of authority, but the possibility of these authorities having felt it better to seclude juveniles with LDs from their peers without LDs and punish them for behaviors and actions they may not only not have much control over but also not fully comprehend the magnitude of. When considering misinterpretation, it could be in considering the juveniles hostile, like they are ignoring commands, labeling them as trouble makers, or even thinking that they have a mental health disorder.

The implications for social change in this study were the possibility of lessening the number of juveniles with LDs turning to delinquency and lessening their frequency of doing so. In helping this population, there might be other things discovered that could have been helpful not only to this population but also for delinquent youth without disabilities. The findings of this study could help these youth become more functional members of society, which in turn, could lead to more and better opportunities for their success in all aspects of life. The study could show a need for programs to curb LD youth from being incarcerated including diversion and more tailored educational programs. These responsibilities would fall on stakeholders like the juvenile justice system and education departments.

Background

In this section, I describe selected articles relating to juvenile delinquency and LDs. The following keyword search terms were used to locate these sources in the SAGE Journals database and Walden University Library: *juvenile delinquency and learning*

disabilities, juvenile delinquents with learning disabilities, and learning disabilities within juvenile justice system.

Brier (1994) studied a diversion program for older adolescents with learning disabilities that offered psychosocial, educational, and vocational treatments. The main aim of the program was to build certain skills, including reasoning, problem solving, and social skills. The recidivism rate of the juveniles who finished the program was compared with those that did not participate in the program to show the program's effectiveness. The study was conducted over a 2-year period with 73 participants. The inclusion criteria for the study were youth aged 16 to 21, with two or less arrests prior to the current one, nonviolent crimes, no mental health or substance abuse issues, and of high risk for learning disabilities. All participants were referred to the program by the personnel from the Bronx County, New York district attorney's office. Brier concluded that targeting treatment like that used in the study reduced recidivism in the youth with learning disabilities that were treated. This would suggest that this type of treatment should help reduce recidivism in youth with learning disabilities. As the results were just reflective of the 73 participants, there should be more studies done on a broader scale with this type of treatment to see if the results are the same.

Cavendish (2014) examined academic achievement during commitment and beyond by focusing on 4,066 youth in juvenile justice facilities in Florida with or without disabilities and their educational outcomes after their release. Educational outcomes 3 years after release from various justice facilities for juveniles in the state of Florida were also examined. During commitment the youth with LDs and emotional and behavioral

disorders performed as well academically if not better than those without disabilities, although all typically performed below a level considered to be satisfactory (i.e., C or better). Cavendish concluded that those with or without disabilities perform well academically after release. Since the study was only done on participants in Florida, it would stand to reason that a broader study in more states would produce a more representative outcome. From the study results, it can be concluded that something is missing academically for those with and without disabilities, not only in juvenile justice facilities, but also in their communities. Further studies might be able to pinpoint the most effective ways to reach these delinquent juveniles so they can be successful academically.

Chin (2017) suggested that juveniles that have LDs and are not treated properly are more likely to have increased recidivism rates. The author proposed the implementation of problem-solving and treatment courts as a way to curb recidivism in youth with LDs. Chin also provided the definition of a LD, federal protections for those with disabilities, screening methods, stigmatization, and counterarguments for problem-solving courts. The author concluded that the benefits to the youth with LDs outweighs the cons and costs of adopting nationwide, problem-solving courts that do not require an order or referral to take part.

Although problem-solving courts are available, there are certain requirements to take part. Because many juveniles are not referred or ordered to take part, they are not able to benefit from the resources it provides (Chin, 2017). Since most juveniles do not take part in this type of court, it is hard to know if it is as effective on a larger, nationwide

scale. This leads to a gap in knowledge as to the real effectiveness of these courts on learning-disabled juveniles and their effect on recidivism. Knowing the effectiveness of these courts could prove helpful in discovering ways to help juveniles with LDs receive proper treatment and, possibly, curb recidivism.

Chin-Chih et al. (2011) conducted a longitudinal study on disadvantaged, mostly racial-ethnic minority juveniles taking part in the Chicago Longitudinal Study to determine whether there was a link between LDs and future juvenile delinquency and/or adult crimes. Another factor covered was whether LDs severed certain relationships and lead to future antisocial behavior. The original study sample contained 1,539 juveniles, while the primary study sample was 1,370 juveniles, with approximately half being female, 121 having LDs, 36 having emotional disabilities, 79 with other disabilities, 250 with histories of grade retention but lacking special education placement, and 884 general education juveniles without remedial services. Their study helped predict the legal outcomes of adults that had certain risk factors and records as juveniles. For example, if a juvenile has unmet LDs, they may be more likely to turn to crime in adulthood. Although this study was helpful as a predictor, it could use additional research to solidify the results. Further studies could prove helpful with this population as well as produce more widespread results that could be more representative of the actual population of juvenile delinquents with LDs.

Hellenbach (2012) reflected the opinions and general attitudes of 15 sergeants about juvenile offenders with LDs. The study took place in Manchester, United Kingdom. All the sergeants had at least 2 years of experience in their current roles. All

the sergeants in the study except one lacked proper understanding of LDs, often mistaking LDs for mental illness. Hellenbach concluded that just changing the laws and rules with regards to LDs was not going to change much if the attitudes of the professionals involved are not changed. The professionals involved have to be open to the ideas and understand the many facets that come with those within the learning-disabled population, including what they are and are not capable of doing and understanding. This study provides a good understanding of the minds of the professionals that deal with the juvenile with LDs population while incarcerated. Although these professionals may care, their lack of resources and understanding of these disabilities will continue to show in the recidivism of the juveniles involved. It is important to not only identify juveniles with some sort of disability but also determine what the disability is and the best way to move forward with treatment.

Hirschinger-Blank et al. (2019) studied a program that helped with the literacy of juveniles between the ages of 11 and 14 years old on probation. The program was implemented as a response to the low reading level of most of the adjudicated youth according to standardized tests for reading. The authors concluded that the juveniles that participated in the study showed more educational aspirations. The results also showed the importance and benefit or one-on-one programs or those tailored for individual juveniles. The authors also concluded that keeping juveniles in continual programs or continually participating in educational goals seemed to lead to less recidivism.

These results are important, but it is also necessary to realize that until they are implemented on a larger scale to not take the findings as a firm representation of results

that will occur within this population. Although the lack of academic success as a causation for delinquency and continued recidivism seems well documented, the success of this type of program on a larger, more continual scale has yet to be proven. Making continued efforts for juveniles on probation and incarcerated by way of identifying and providing the proper resources for any types of disabilities are still necessary.

Kumagami and Kumagai (2014) focused on Japanese juvenile delinquents and their link, if any, to learning disabilities by using the Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children II. The study participants included 22 juvenile delinquents, 28 nondisabled high schoolers, and 12 special education high schoolers with disabilities of the intellectual type. The results showed the marked difference in scores for delinquents as opposed to the nondisabled high schoolers and also showed that some of these high schoolers presented with undiagnosed LDs. Their study showed the need for appropriate resources and more widespread testing for these disabilities. Their results indicated that there are many students that are not identified as having disabilities and, therefore, who will not receive the proper resources they need for success. Identifying and helping those with disabilities with their academic understanding and achievements could result in a high number of juveniles not turn to delinquency and possibly with their recidivism as well.

Although the summarized research literature contained information addressing delinquent youth with LDs, there was a gap concerning the statistical significance between LDs, juvenile delinquency, and recidivism. The current study was meant to address this gap concerning the juvenile with LDs population, juvenile delinquency, and recidivism.

Problem Statement

Juveniles have a tendency to turn to delinquency when there is discord or some type of inefficiency in their life (Savolainen et al., 2018). Addressing and resolving these issues when permitted should lead to a decrease in the number of juvenile delinquents. One population among juvenile delinquents is those with learning deficiencies. It has been thought that factors like learning deficiencies could be used as predictors of delinquency or even recidivism, reflected by studies like that of Barrett (2014) and Nkoana et al. (2020). These two studies focused on delinquency and recidivism, early adverse experiences, mental health issues, disabilities, and traumatic brain injuries. The studies reflect an understanding of the educational needs of those with different types of disadvantages and disabilities and the use of information as a type of predictor for delinquency and recidivism with juveniles within this population. Zhang (2011) and Gagnon and National Collaborative on Workforce and Disability for Youth (2018) reported that juveniles with LDs are more vulnerable to patterns of recidivism.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to determine if there was significance in the links between juvenile delinquency, recidivism, and LDs. Juveniles with LDs have been shown to have a tendency for juvenile delinquency and likely recidivism in numerous earlier studies (Chin, 2017). In this study, I attempted to determine if these already established links have any statistical significance. Secondary data were used to both show these links and their possible significance. In this study, I compared the statistics of juvenile delinquents with LDs to that of juvenile delinquents without them. From these

comparisons, I was be able to see the amount of recidivism between the two groups and was able to decide if there was significant recidivism in one group more than the other. I was also able to conclude if there was significance in those with LDs versus those without them. This project was unique in the sense that it worked from the known of their being an established link among variables and looked for the possible significance within the links.

In this study, I focused on three main variables: The independent variable was the learning-disabled juveniles, and the dependent variables were delinquency and recidivism. The data were collected using archived data from the South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice (SCDJJ) and the SC Department of Education (SCDE). I gained access to the data by making a data request through the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office (SC RFA), which had a data warehouse that stored the data from the SCDJJ and the SCDE. Information on the learning-disabled population came from the SCDJJ, and this data was compared to that of their nondisabled peers.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: What is the statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs?

 H_11 : There is a high statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

 H_01 : There is no statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

RQ2: What is the statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs?

 H_12 : There is a high statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

 H_02 : There is no statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical base for this study was Durkheim's anomie theory (see DiCristina, 2016). The lack of appropriate social norms within those with LDs could lead to juvenile delinquency. Durkheim's anomie theory provided a deeper understanding of how the lack of these social norms leading to juvenile delinquency held significance. A significance that could hold true more with those having learning disabilities as opposed to those lacking these disabilities. A significance that could affect recidivism within the LD population. The literature related to this theory showed the relationship between anomie theory and juvenile delinquency among juveniles with LDs.

A lack of conventional means to achieve success might lead to a turn to delinquency or unconventional means for attainment (Yu et al., 2019). Even so much so that some people so focused on attaining monetary success were unaware of the lengths to which they are going to achieve this success (Yu et al., 2019). In other words, there were those that would do whatever to achieve their wanted success while somewhat unconsciously making their way to this success. Operating with "blinders" to their

actions and their legality with their focus solely having been on that of their future success.

For example, a youth that was hungry might take something to eat without paying for it (Yu et al., 2019). As far as they were concerned, they were successful in abating their hunger, but they stole food in order to make the hunger subside. This could also be true for those with disabilities because they might have been unaware that taking the food without paying was not acceptable behavior. Because it might be difficult for those with LDs to understand or comprehend societal norms and laws, breaking them can be done while the youth are unaware their actions are inappropriate. In this sense, strain from lack of things seen as necessities could lead to unconventional attainment without the knowledge of the severity of punishment that could have resulted and unawareness of the inappropriate nature of the actions in general.

In regard to the anomic way of accomplishing goals, there seemed to be almost an acceptance for having achieved even by illegal means in certain social classes (Hughes, 2017). For those that fell within the lower socioeconomic statuses, it was considered innovative to have achieved success without the same opportunities and privileges as those in upper classes (Hughes, 2017). Since those in lower socioeconomic status had less resources to properly educate learning-disabled youth in all that was appropriate, it could have been seen as innovative when they achieved certain successes having used unconventional means. This innovation was a way of excusing inappropriate behavior because of a lack of appropriate means and resources to have accomplished things in a conventional manner.

Nature of Study

In this quantitative study, I used secondary data to determine if there was significance in the links between juvenile delinquency and LDs. There were three variables of focus: The independent variable was the learning-disabled juveniles, and the dependent variables were delinquency and recidivism. The data were collected from archived data within the SCDJJ and the SCDE. The data encompassed in these databases were accessible through requests to the research and statistics team associated with the databases. As most of these data are already available to the public or accessed through specific requests, the SCDJJ has already provided the necessary protections needed for the juveniles within their system.

Definitions

Adjudication: When the prosecution decides to go ahead with formal proceedings against a juvenile through family court (SCDJJ, 2020). When the facts of the case are discussed and legal procedures are determined (Gann, 2019).

Commitment: The removal of a juvenile from their community to a placement within the Department of Juvenile Justice (Cunningham, 2004; SCDJJ, 2020).

Competency: A juvenile's ability to understand proceedings. A few factors could lead to a referral for competency evaluation (SCDJJ, 2020):

- If a juvenile is younger than 12 years of age, which can change based on the state. For South Carolina the age is 12.
- The juvenile does not appear to understand questions presented to them by the judge and/or attorneys. The juvenile could also display a lack of

understanding for the procedures occurring in court and/or conference with their counsel.

- The juvenile has a history of mental health diagnoses, recurrent hospital visits, and/or is currently or previously took medication.
- The juvenile has some sort of disability, including: LDs, an emotional handicap, or is enrolled in a special education program.

Detention age restriction: Juveniles younger than 10 years of age are not to be incarcerated under any circumstances (SCDJJ, 2020). This age can range from 6–12 years old depending on the state law.

Diversion: A program that diverts juveniles' cases from the juvenile justice system. Instead of going through family court, the juvenile would go through another program like drug court, a behavior contract, or an arbitration program. With successful completion of one of these programs the juvenile will have their charges dismissed (SCDJJ, 2020).

Evaluation: This is requested by a family court judge to assess a youth's psychological, social, and/or educational status. Typically used in helping a judge determine how best to proceed with a youth (Berryessa & Reeves, 2020; SCDJJ, 2020)

Intake: A process by which a juvenile's needs and circumstances are evaluated by the Department of Juvenile Justice (SCDJJ, 2020). During this process the juvenile is interviewed, the parent or guardian of the juvenile is interviewed, background information is gathered, and releases are signed for school and medical records to be collected (Birckhead, 2013).

Juvenile: Any person under the age of 18 years old (Gordon 2010; SCDJJ, 2020). LD: A disability in which a person has difficulty understanding or in using language, spoken or written, that may manifest itself in the imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or to do mathematical calculations, including conditions such as perceptual disabilities, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia (Chin, 2017, p. 620).

Recidivism: Acts committed that resulted in adjudication, rearrest, and a return to incarceration (National Institute of Justice, 2021; Vacca, 2008).

School-to-prison pipeline: The removal of students from grade school (i.e., kindergarten–Grade 12) to that of an incarcerated setting (Bell, 2016).

Assumptions

I made a few assumptions concerning this study. One of the assumptions was that the SCDJJ kept record of incarcerated juveniles with LDs and recorded this information with the rest of the juvenile's records. Another assumption was that this information would be available along with the rest of the public records that could be accessed regarding juveniles incarcerated in the SCDJJ, making it possible to use this information as secondary data. My last assumption was that the information gathered in this study would in some way prove valuable with helping shine a light on the learning-disabled population and things that might have been considered outside of their control that led to their delinquency or being considered delinquent.

It stood to reason that since it was required with intake that disabilities were considered that the SCDJJ would have record of the occurrence of disabilities within their system. Arrests and court cases were information of public knowledge and accessible through databases. Since all knowledge was helpful in some way, it seemed a reasonable assumption that the information gathered from this study would also be helpful in some way to someone. I provide these assumptions as a way of ensuring that what was assumed in this study was differentiated from what was hypothesized or determined as a result of the study.

Scope and Delimitations

I used the quantitative methodology to determine the significance of the relationship between juveniles with LDs and delinquency and recidivism. This study centered on delinquent juveniles within the SCDJJ. Within this population, the main focus was on juveniles with LDs compared to those without LDs. With strain and anomie theories used as the theoretical framework, it was important to have seen the population as a whole before having determined the subset within this population used to conduct the study.

Limitations, Challenges, and/or Barriers

One possible barrier was that of using secondary data because it resulted in being reliant on the accuracy of those that previously collected the data. There was so much that was out of my hands as a researcher when dealing with secondary data. However, there was not really an issue with bias with regard to this study because all the data were secondary, restricting the possibility of the researcher having any control over the

outcome. Any needed paperwork or parental approvals were likely signed or given during the court process and original collection of information. Information about disabilities was usually submitted to the court from the juveniles' schools; unfortunately, this was only helpful if the juvenile had a known LD. The only measures that I could take with regard to limitations were to state them in hopes that future research would be able to take them into consideration and avoid these same issues in the future.

Significance

I conducted this study to fill the gap in knowledge concerning whether there was significance in the links between LDs, juvenile delinquency, and recidivism. Although some studies, including those of Brier (1994) and Hoogsteder et al. (2018), showed that certain treatment and academic achievement during commitment could lead to less recidivism in those juveniles with LDs, I also attempted to determine if this lessening of recidivism was enough to have any real significance. It has been shown that certain things like therapy and alternative justice can positively affect recidivism rates (Hoogsteder et al., 2018; Riley & Hayes, 2018), but was it was unclear if therapy and alternative justice in juveniles with LDs would decrease overall recidivism. This study was meant to show if the links between LDs and juvenile delinquency had enough significance to warrant changes with the treatment of those juveniles with LDs.

Potential social change that could occur as a result of this study includes increasing knowledge regarding juveniles with LDs and their interactions with delinquency and recidivism. Although the focus of this study was limited to only a part of the detained population of juveniles, it was necessary to start somewhere. Positive social

change within the learning-disabled population could bring the potential of helping the rest of the delinquent juvenile population.

Summary

Although there was a lot of research available providing a link between LDs and juvenile delinquency, there was not much examining the statistical significance between the two variables or recidivism. The research questions for this study focused on determining the statistical significance, if any, that existed between juvenile delinquency, LDs, and recidivism within the learning-disabled delinquent population. Since there is always a push to lower recidivism rates, focusing on one population in which there was the potential to considerably lower those numbers seemed like an imperative task. Since the current treatments and programs were not proving to be the most effective, finding populations with the potential for lowering their recidivism rate seemed necessary.

In Chapter 2, I will provide the theoretical foundation for this study, the anomie and strain theories, along with a review of literature reflecting the topic at hand. The literature reviewed concerns learning-disabled juveniles and their interaction with delinquency as well as their likelihood and tendencies regarding recidivism. In Chapter 3, I will focus on the research design, methodology, population and sample size, statistical tests, and ethical procedures. Chapter 4 will encompass the data collection process and the results of the study, while Chapter 5 will include interpretations of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, and implications.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

For many years, there has been a recurring presence of youth with disabilities within the juvenile justice system (Cavendish, 2014; Ochoa, 2016). Within this group, there has been a prevalence of youth with LDs in substantial numbers. Previous researchers have attempted to determine the risk factors and establish a possible link between LDs and juvenile delinquency (Ochoa, 2016). Although the link has been proven by previous research, there are still those that argue that it is more of a passive link that along with other risk factors could lead to delinquency. The purpose of this study was to show if there was statistical significance between juvenile delinquency and LDs.

In this chapter, I provide a review of relevant literature regarding the juvenile justice system and youth with LDs. Some of the topics covered apply to both youth with or without disabilities, while other topics were more specific to youth with LDs. The theoretical framework of this study comprised Durkheim's anomie theory and Merton's anomie/strain theory.

Literature Search Strategy

To locate literature for this review, I searched databases accessible through the Walden University Library. The following key words were used to find articles relating to LDs and juvenile delinquency: learning difficulties, juvenile delinquency, juvenile justice, learning disabilities, delinquent youth, theory of anomie, and Durkheim and Merton. I also searched Google for scholarly articles pertaining to the topic of young offenders with LDs. The last method I employed for finding relevant articles was using the reference sections of articles already deemed relevant. The literature reviewed

encompassed websites, books, and peer-reviewed articles with publication dates ranging from 1994 to 2021.

Theoretical Foundation

The two theories used as the foundation for this study were Durkheim's theory of anomie and Merton's anomie/strain theory. I chose these theories because they reflected factors and/or risks seeming to have led to or influenced delinquent behavior. The theories served as a way of understanding some of the mindsets that youths experienced within a societal setting that had a tendency to veer toward delinquent behavior (Yu et al., 2019). There were a number of studies that had previously used these theories to produce and/or support results (e.g., Bonjar, 2017; Lo et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2019). These theories helped me only explain some of the causations of delinquency and shed light on some of the possibilities that could have led to recidivism.

Durkheim and Merton were both well-known sociologists that helped build the theory of social anomie and strain theory (Durkheim, 1897; Merton, 1957). Although Durkheim focused more on strictly anomie, Merton built from this theory to include other factors leading to deviance along with anomie, including that of strain theory (Bonjar, 2017). Durkheim provided more of a blanket or vague theory, while Merton narrowed the theory down by adding more specifics and factors beyond just that of anomie. I discuss both of these theories in more detail in the following subsections.

Durkheim's Theory of Anomie

Durkheim is regarded as the first sociologist to develop anomie, so it is not surprising that the sociologist's own experiences and environment may have influenced

the theory's development. Since the theory was based on the concept of normalcy (Inderbitzin, 2016), it stands to reason that this would differ for those of different classes and backgrounds. One argument that was commonly used by Durkheim (1897) was that people could not be happy unless their needs were proportionate to their means. In other words, not trying to live beyond one's means would bring them the greatest possibility of happiness. Durkheim also thought that society held a sort of power over one's expectations and passions.

According to Durkheim's (1897) earlier works, an unstable society led to deviance. This type of unstable environment would lead to outlandish and unreasonable aspirations that typically led to deviance as a way of accomplishing them. Durkheim described three abnormal forms of the division of labor: the "anomic division of labor," "the forced division of labor," and a "badly coordinated division of labor" (DiCristina, 2016, p. 313). These divisions of labor were established to help explain some forms that took place that had a propensity to end up in deviant or delinquent behavior.

Durkheim's (1897) work showed a sort of cause and effect of societal and economic crises and were a way of indicating how these phenomena not only reflected a sort of relationship but how entangled this relationship had become. The sociologist's work also showed the absence of certain societal norms could in turn influence the thought process of those within this environment and result in a shift in what is considered normal. When the changes that occurred happened in a rapid and unexpected manner, society would adapt with a less than ideal response. The normal societal restrictions would disappear or lessen, making way for different ideals and innovations to

emerge. This also led to the possibility of youth violating rules by way of not wanting to listen or comply with imposed rules and limitations (DiCristina, 2016).

Merton's Theory of Anomie/Strain

Merton (1938) built on Durkheim's anomie theory by narrowing the focus while expanding on other parts of the theory. Merton's main argument was that anomie was mainly a result of the relationship between societal goals and legal means of attaining them. Unlike Durkheim, Merton did not believe that anomie was just a result of ungoverned goals. Although it was established that this environment could result in a sense of anomie, Merton felt that there were other factors that also contributed to anomie or the semblance of it.

Merton (1957) also reflected the stance that class affects people's ability to achieve certain wealth by legal means. There were certain opportunities that existed more so for those of higher classes that those of the lower or middle class may have needed to struggle more to achieve. In this sense, the lack of opportunities pertaining to education and jobs may have led to deviance to achieve certain goals. Merton also suggested five adaptions to anomie regarding attaining wealth and the means by which they are obtained.

- Conformity: Those considered conformists have not only accepted societal goals but are trying to accomplish them through legal means.
- 2. Innovation: Innovative people have accepted societal goals but have chosen to accomplish them using illegal means.

- Ritualism: Ritualists are those who have chosen not to accept societal goals but are achieving different goals using legal means.
- 4. Retreatism: Those following retreatism have chosen not only to reject societal goals for their own but also strive to reach them using illegal means.
- 5. Rebellion: Those people that fall within the rebellion adaptation have chosen not to follow the rules and try to conform the system to fit their opinions on what the rules should be.

Believing that anomic strain could cause deviance but was not necessarily something that would inevitably lead to crime set Merton (1957) apart. Some would choose to achieve financial success by any means necessary, including illegal means, citing strain and/or lack of opportunity while trying to achieve societal goals. Merton suggested that most people would not choose to turn to illegal means but would actually conform, stating that most would choose to live within their means and conform on some of their goals. But for those with some of the higher goals without the legal means of achieving them, it could lead to deviance (Antonaccio & Smith, 2015; Bonjar, 2017).

Another consideration was when materialistic goals were internalized. In such a scenario, whether there were legitimate means for achievement or not, materialistic attainment became the goal (Lo, 2018). This turned the actions of the person into a sort of second nature. The person may not have been aware of the inappropriateness of their actions used to attain their internal definition of success, which could lead to deviance and the use of illegal and dangerous means to attain the type of success they feel is necessary. This is a feasible situation for those with LDs because it may be hard for them

to determine the appropriateness of their actions in alignment with societal norms and expectations.

Review of Related Literature

Prevalence of LDs

With the high numbers of individuals within the juvenile justice system, it becomes imperative to identify those that may need different or extra attention to learn or understand. There is a large number of juveniles with LDs within this system; it is one of the diagnoses that is most often seen within this population (Grigorenko & Macomber, 2006; Nkoana et al., 2020). One good indicator of a LD of some sort is the level of reading proficiency juveniles may exhibit. Difficulty with the subjects of reading and/or math tend to be major issues for those with LDs.

National statistics in Japan reflect that the majority of juvenile delinquents have lower reading proficiency level scores (Kumagami, 2014). According to Kumagami (2014), 45% of juvenile delinquents were identified as having a LD. This reflected a higher number than the less than 30% typically identified in high school students. When looking at the juveniles within the U.S. juvenile justice system, there is also a high prevalence of learning-disabled youth (Krezmien, 2008). From a mental health professional standpoint, reading and LDs are often encountered (Rucklidge, 2013).

Poon and Suk-Han (2015) conducted a study in Sweden showing that nearly 40% of the delinquent males displayed a reading deficiency. While reading disabilities are most often seen within this population, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder was also highly prevalent. Although it is not considered a LD, it is often seen coexisting in those

with LDs. This coexistence makes it important to note with those with LDs as to not be overlooked.

Another LD within this population is dyslexia (Baker, 2007). When looking at difficulties with reading and writing, short-term memory is often a related factor (Selenius & Daderman, 2006). Those with dyslexia have a tendency to have a poor short-term memory coupled with the inability or difficulty to decode and/or spell (Selenius & Daderman, 2006). There have been several studies that have found there is a marked presence of dyslexics within the juvenile justice system (Baker & Ireland, 2007). There is also a higher prevalence of dyslexia within the population of juvenile offenders than with nonoffenders (Baker & Ireland, 2007). Another consideration for those with dyslexia is the often-observed negative effect on self-esteem.

Vulnerability

Along with the presence of LDs is the vulnerability that coexists within the learning-disabled population. Chen (2011) suggested that this population was vulnerable and more likely to have an unsuccessful transition back to the community. This vulnerability also has the tendency to lead to higher risks of detainment and more frequent returns to detainment than that of non-learning-disabled peers (Mallett, 2014; Nkoana et al., 2020; Weinberg & Smith, 2019). In other words, there tends to be higher recidivism rates within this vulnerable population than those without LDs.

Along with the vulnerability that occurs in those with LDs, there comes poor grades and a negative connotation regarding learning and experiences with it (Mallett, 2014). Grades tend to be poor because the youth have an issue with understanding and

have lesser feelings of themselves (Geis, 2014). They develop feelings of inadequacy when comparing themselves to peers without LDs. The failures encountered have a tendency to lead youth down less than desirable paths that can lead to delinquent and/or criminal activity (Poon & Suk-Han, 2015).

Although LDs are seen by some as a nonspecific risk factor (Amitay & Gumpel, 2015), they are also known to cause self-efficacy affecting the academic and social domains. Because of the tendency to put learning disabled students in a special education environment, these students are put at a disadvantage when trying to establish how to fit in with nondisabled peers. These separations also make it harder for these students to know how to compare themselves academically with their nondisabled peers.

Researchers have suggested a number of reasons for this population to have an increased likelihood to lead to deviant behavior like arson (Tranah & Nicholas, 2013). As mentioned earlier, isolation from peers, inability to accurately voice communications, and a need to be heard are some of these characteristics leading to arson. Some of the other traits include frustration, effort at establishing power/control, and lashing out in an act of revenge (Tranah & Nicholas, 2013). Although arson is just one deviant behavior that can result from some of these characteristics, many can lead to other types of deviant behavior as well.

Although the justice system and the pathways within it seem straightforward, it may not be so for youth with LDs. With the deficiencies that come with these disabilities, it can be hard for these youth to understand the processes within the juvenile justice system (Jones & Talbot, 2010). The process itself might seem overwhelming, and the

youth could be unaware of the gravity of their situation and what is expected of them (Jones & Talbot, 2010). This is likely why these youth are arrested more and recidivate at higher rates than their peers without disabilities.

There have been studies that reflect a major issue with juvenile offenders and their difficulty with learning how to read (Vacca, 2008). Although this tends to occur within the school system, this difficulty can be frustrating and lead possibly lead to negative and/or delinquent behavior. It has been shown that inappropriate responses by youth within the learning environment can be misinterpreted as hostility or lack of cooperation, leading teachers and/or schools to discipline these students possibly entering them into the juvenile justice system or at the least starting them on the path (Shelton, 2006). Research shows that racial-ethnic minorities with these disabilities have a greater risk of the suspension/expulsion form of discipline (Bell, 2016). Along with discipline like suspension, the possibility of being rejected by peers can have an impact on how these youth develop and learn.

There is a tendency to exclude learning disabled students from their non-disabled peers by moving them into an exclusive and separate special education program.

Unfortunately, these programs are often lacking resources or ill-equipped in other ways.

This type of isolation may serve well if properly equipped and resourced in the way of comfort, but has a tendency to create a socially awkward future for these students when interacting with non-disabled peers. This also opens the door for other issues concerning emotional and academic shortcomings in the future (Stanford & Muhammad, 2018).

Not only do those with LDs face vulnerabilities of not understanding scholastically, but there is also the possibility of others taking advantage of them. As was shown by the murder of Brendan Mason, who was killed by two men he thought to be his friends. Not only did they try to label him a pedophile but they tortured him, which led to his death in the hospital the next day. Mason had injuries including broken ribs, a collapsed lung, and brain damage (Matthews, 2018). This is just one prominent example of a person with a LD not understanding and correctly reading a situation. When two men who were formerly friends lured him into a dark park, Mason did not seem too wary of accompanying them.

Learning Disabled Youth More Likely to Engage in Delinquent Behavior

According to Chen et al. (2011) and Shandra and Hogan (2012), learning disabled juveniles are more likely to engage in delinquent offenses that their non-disabled peers. This claim is reflected by Chen (2016). With the showing of a 7.1% higher delinquency rate than that of their nondisabled peers, it is a clear showing that there is a higher delinquency rate in those with learning disabilities as opposed to those without them. Along with this greater showing of delinquency there is also the increased showing of risk-taking behavior. A sample from a Canadian study shows some of these risk-taking behaviors, engaging in delinquency, substance use and abuse, aggressive actions, and gambling (Grigorenko & Macomber, 2014; McNamara & Willoughby, 2010: Segeren et al., 2018).

When looking at this population it helps to know not only some of the likely behaviors and factors that led to them but also when some of these things should be paid careful attention. By the age of 14 juveniles with LDs are twice as likely to have committed their first offense (Barrett & Katsiyannis, 2010; Segeren et al., 2018). Not only this but the crimes this population commits has a tendency to be more serious in nature in comparison to their peers without disabilities. Because of these statistics, learning disabled juveniles are a lot more likely to have some sort of interaction with the juvenile justice system in comparison to those juveniles without these disabilities (Chitsabesan et al., 2007; Nkoana et al., 2020; Rucklidge, 2013).

Many of the above-mentioned risks and activities lead learning disabled youth to be under court supervision and commit more offenses than that of their peers. Since offenses tend to start at younger ages, having more offenses would statistically make since. With this young age also comes the possibility of impulsive decisions that are made in youth. Along with this impulsive nature, learning disabled youth also have to try to overcome differential treatment from those of authority and less positive outcomes with regard to school (Mallett, 2014).

As this is a lot for any young person to overcome, it can be overwhelming for those who truly may not understand the dynamics or the situation at hand because of a learning disadvantage produced by a disability. Coupled with emotional and/or behavioral issues, learning disabled youth have a more frequent interaction with delinquency (Shandra & Hogan, 2012). This could be seen as inevitable or as something that should be carefully observed and likely intervene. Although there are many things that have been observed with regard to the increased rates of delinquency within the juvenile learning-disabled population, there is still a lot that stands to be understood.

Proper Training and Communication for Staff

When looking at the concept of training for staff within the juvenile justice system it helps to start in a place that there is the most interaction, within incarceration. Hellenbach (2011) interviewed 15 custody sergeants to get their views and attitudes regarding those juveniles with learning disabilities. All of these sergeants except one were willing to admit that they did not feel they had a full and accurate understanding of learning disabilities. They also said they referenced juveniles as having a mental health issue instead of a LD. Another confusion or misunderstanding that has a tendency to do more harm in good in the misdiagnosis or misinterpretation of a LD being a mental health issue.

Another thing to look at within the path through the juvenile criminal justice system is the pathway through it along with the communication or lack thereof that occurs within it. Even though it would seem pertinent to have school records with a defender in the discovery packet, this is often not the case (Geis, 2014). These records are often not even available for inspection during the intake of a juvenile. The exchange of this documentation could take from days to weeks, even when received containing minimal data (Hart et al., 2012). Although the lack of information could be due to truancy issues with the youth, the turnaround time for receipt is unacceptable as it could have either helped their defender or a judge considering sentencing.

Another issue within this population is the lack of adequate or appropriate services and programs for juveniles with these disabilities. It has been determined that a lack of adequate programming for these populations has a tendency to lead to increased

recidivism (Cruise & Evans, 2011). Sometimes the lack of adequate services can lead to inappropriate behavior including that of inappropriate sexual behavior. Studies completed by Fyson (2007) and Nyokangi and Phasha (2016) found it commonplace to have instances of sexual abuse, including that of rape in the special education schools. The lack of timely or appropriate intervention has led to there have been many juveniles with learning disabilities that have been required to register as sex offenders.

Within this population remains the matter of misidentification. There have been studies documenting the failure to identify these disabilities. As a way to counteract or improve this problem there has been a Child Find provision added to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Failure to comply with act can not only lead to legal action but can place agencies outside of compliance with mandates on state and federal levels (Krezmien & Mulcahy, 2008). Later in 2015, Every Student Succeeds Act was passed as another way to help children with special needs get proper and necessary services. This act was not only meant to help youth with disabilities but for those incarcerated youth to be able to receive proper educational, therapeutic, and transitional services (Gagnon & National Collaborative on Workforce and Disability for Youth, 2018).

These measures can be seen as a way of forcing agencies to do their part to properly identify these disabilities so they can be adequately helped. Under the Child Find act the responsibility of finding and helping these youth fall on the state (Geis, 2014). Unfortunately, this provision has also brought a trend of those that want to avoid the responsibility of finding youth with these disabilities. As a way of avoiding the responsibilities that come after the determination of these disabilities, there are those that

try to avoid identifying these youth (Jones & Talbot, 2010). Whether because of feelings that facilities were unable to adequately address these youth or they felt they lacked appropriate skills, this type of response is not only inappropriate but further the issue that already exists. Although there still remains the valid issue of overcrowding and understaffing within these programs (Shelton, 2006).

Lack of Understanding or Misinterpretation

There is a sizeable gap between the understanding of LDs and the reality and depth of the disabilities. Because of this lapse of understanding there are shortcomings with regard to proper environments for those with LDs This misconception has led to separate learning environments for those with and without LDs This separation tends to lead to less understanding of those without disabilities, including a judge and their expectations of the juvenile (Mallett, 2014). The most common lack of understanding comes in the way of peers. These juveniles typically will not have the necessary information to make comparisons to those without disabilities to establish proper behavior in their presence (Amitay & Gumpel, 2015).

This separation can also lead to lapses or improper understanding of what is appropriate moral judgement. It has been established that moral judgement is a risk factor with importance with regard to recidivism. Since moral judgement helps determine how one acts and reacts to certain things, behavior associated with it can vary based on how well it is understood. Learning disabled youth tend not to have the greatest understanding that their inappropriate behavior is not only against the norm but more importantly against the societal rules (van Vugt & Asscher, 2011). Another important factor is

whether or not it is thought that the appropriate moral judgement can be instilled in these juveniles or if it beyond their reasonable understanding. This is important when reasoning the accountability of a juvenile for their actions.

Other issues within the learning-disabled population are misrepresentation and labelling. There are those that would categorize those within this population as "special" or "eternal children." There seems to be a frequency of a negative connotation being attributed to this population (Matthews, 2018). This can not only draw unnecessary or unwanted attention to those with LDs, but can also lead to feelings of indifference toward them. As misrepresentation and labelling might lead to misunderstanding and intolerance, it is important to properly represent those within the disabled community.

School-to-Prison Pipeline

It is important to first have an understanding of the definition of the school-to-prison pipeline before understanding its purpose and shortcomings. It can be defined as "the systemic removement from the k-12 education environment into settings of incarceration (i.e., jails and prisons)" (Bell, 2016, p. 698). Another definition is "a metaphor used to describe the pathway followed by students who, because of their demographic and psychological characteristics and educational disadvantages, are caught in a web of circumstances that propel them from school into the juvenile justice system" (Nelson, 2014, p. 91).

With these definitions in mind, it stands to reason that many juveniles with multiple suspensions and/or expulsion end up in the juvenile justice system (Geis, 2014). Much of this could be a reflection of the zero-tolerance policy that many schools have

established, some now including weapons, drugs, and what is considered problem behavior (Stanford, 2018). Numbers of youth with LDs in this position may be directly referred to the juvenile justice system by their schools (Read, 2014). These referrals are reflected in the rising rates of incarceration for youth arrested while attending school (Stanford & Muhammad, 2018).

Another unfortunate statistic seems to emerge when looking into the school-toprison pipeline. There seems to be a large number of not only children with disabilities
but also within this group a majority of underrepresented youth (Stanford & Muhammad,
2018). This seems to be a reflection that underrepresented students with disabilities of an
intellectual nature reflect a greater risk of not only suspension but expulsion more so than
that of their nondisabled peers (Bell, 2016). These suspensions and expulsion further fuel
the pipeline that is continually propelling youth with less fortunate circumstances through
it.

Differing Opinions About LDs and Juvenile Delinquency Link

Although there have been many studies that examine the apparent link between LDs and juvenile delinquency, there are still those that feel this may not be the case. There have been recent studies conveying the idea that although criminal behavior may be indirectly related to criminal behavior it is not an indicator of future criminal behavior. Not only this but that LDs are typically just an indicator for economic problems and/or small or minor misbehavior (Kumagami, 2014). There have been those like Chitsabesan et al. (2007) who have felt that the cause of poor academic performance within juvenile offenders is not clearly linked to learning disabilities.

Others have suggested that there is not enough known about the nature of LDs making it hard to understand the full extent of a possible link and/or pathway to delinquency (Maniadaki & Kakouros, 2010). Without a full and true understanding of all the intricacies of LDs it can become difficult to feel comfortable in conveying definite pathways to delinquency. Studies have shown that there is a link between criminal activity and level of education. This goes to say that certain levels of achievement or lack thereof could either lead to criminal activity or serve as a barrier from committing criminal acts (Vacca, 2008).

Despite the considerable amount of evidence linking juvenile delinquency to reading disabilities, there is still not enough research about certain strategies to help. The one strategy in particular that would seem useful within juvenile corrections being remediation (Shelley-Tremblay, 2007). Remediation could serve as a tool that could give these juveniles the extra time that they need to adequately grasp and understand concepts that those with these disabilities may not grasp as easily or quickly as their peers without disabilities. All it really seems to suggest is that there is much more research that is needed to truly understand the influence these disabilities truly have on delinquency (Shelton, 2006).

Learning Disabled Youth Referred to Juvenile System More Frequently

There have been many scholars that have recognized that juveniles with LDs tend to be referred to the juvenile justice system more than their peers without learning disabilities. One possible reason noted that many of these juveniles did not have the appropriate services available to address their education or behavioral needs (Cruise &

Evans, 2011; Read, 2014). This seems to be a problem reflected more in communities of less means. With this in mind it does not seem unreasonable that male African American youth with familial history of delinquency were referred more to the juvenile justice system (Zhang et al., 2011).

With the many definitions associated with learning disabilities and conditions associated with them, it can become difficult finding the most appropriate one and adopting it (Grigorenko & Macomber, 2016). When there is no universal understanding of a condition it becomes difficult to know how best to help with it. For this among other reasons, students in special education programs with improper or untreated diagnoses have a tendency to increasingly enter the juvenile justice system (Stanford & Muhammad, 2018). Although it is helpful to be in these programs the full potential of the student can't be fulfilled if the student is either undiagnosed or improperly diagnosed.

Differential Treatment and Youth Giving Up

One big problem that seems to show up with regard to this population is the differential treatment they receive. Juvenile court is said to be largely encountering those with learning disabilities because of not only school failure but differential treatment (Mallett, 2014). Another problem within this population is the tendency to put labels on these juveniles. Studies have shown a trend within those within the population of those with LDs that have been labeled as such have a higher risk of committing delinquent actions (Matta Oshima & Huang, 2010).

Along with labeling and differential treatment comes the possibility that the juvenile reaches the point of frustration to which they feel like giving up. Sometimes the

youth get so tired of their situation and the frustrations that come with it to the point where they stop going to school altogether (Geis, 2014). This can become a reality if the school has not already started to push them out by way of suspensions or expulsions already. When the juvenile has reached the point of quitting, they may also be scared or trying to seem bold. Because of this possibility it can be difficult to have discussions with these students about their education.

Appropriateness of Charges

When considering the appropriateness of charges, it is necessary to consider many things. One thing that should be taken into consideration is how much a defendant can understand not only the charges against them but the actions that led to the charges. In other words, it is necessary to know whether or not they can understand that what they did was wrong and if this was understood when the crime was committed. Different countries have different ages and factors when considering criminal responsibility. For example, in England and Wales the age of responsibility is 10 years old. When looking at the study conducted by Chitsabesan et al. (2007), more the half of the juveniles had a comprehension and reading ability of below 10 years old. It also should be considered whether the actions of the juvenile were a direct result of their disability, as this should be considered mitigating circumstances with regard to the charge (Geis, 2014).

Another big consideration is that of intellectual understanding. Intellectual disabilities can play a role in not only intelligence but also in functioning and behavior. An intellectual disability is defined as a lack of complete development of the mind (Mosotho et al, 2020). In other words, individuals failed to fully develop intellectually

during their developmental stage. This type of disability could affect a person's reasoning, ability to dress themselves, bathroom abilities, and ability to feed themselves. This type of disability is important as it is one of the biggest causes of impairment within not only adults but also youth (Mosotho et al, 2020).

Shift in Purpose of Juvenile Justice System

The original purpose of the juvenile justice system was to intervene with the youth and divert them from criminal behavior. This was working on the original thought that they were still young and moldable and that their immature nature and actions could be changed, unlike that of many adult offenders (Shelley-Tremblay & O'Brien, 2007). This sentiment or purpose seemed to have a vast change over the years as the system seems to lean more in the direction of punishment as opposed to intervention. Now the new 'get tough" stance seems to be a way of placating communities that want to remove delinquent youth to keep them from further harming the community (Shelton, 2006). Although this tends to be the typical attitude of those managing the youth, there are still those still believe that diversion is an appropriate and necessary option for youth within the system (Nelson, 2014).

Link to Recidivism

There are a number of factors that are seemingly predictors for recidivism in the juvenile population. It has been proven that needs of a special education type is one of the predictors of recidivism (Smeets, 2014). One could draw the conclusion that focusing on and meeting the needs of juveniles with these disabilities could help with regard to recidivism. Vacca (2008) concluded that the juvenile offenders with disabilities exposed

to the proper programs had lower recidivism rates than those that were not exposed to these types of programs. A couple of other things that seem to curb recidivism rates within this population are education and employment (Hart et al., 2011).

Although there are a number of reasons for juveniles to have high recidivism rates, there have been numerous studies focusing on these factors. It has been determined that LDs tend to increase the risk of recidivism. Even more focused within the LD population, those with reading disabilities seemed to have higher rates of recidivism than those without this disability (O'Brien et al., 2007). With many risk factors with regard to juveniles and their immature and impressionable nature, there has been more focus given to those with disabilities. One study (van Vugt & Asscher, 2011) identified moral judgement or lack thereof a risk factor in juveniles.

Violent Offenses

There is a found correlation between LDs and violent and property delinquency as well as truancy. Some other behaviors linked to this population is that of usage like that of tobacco and marijuana (Evans & Clinkinbeard, 2015; Segeren et al., 2018). It has been shown statistically that many incarcerated juveniles have been shown to have reading disabilities. Even more so than this many of these youth are incarcerated for aggressive felonies (Houchins et al., 2021; Shelley-Tremblay & O-Brien, 2007;), furthering the argument that if the proper help and education are not received that these youth have a tendency to turn to delinquent and/or criminal activity. Many youth that show the antisocial or violent behavior at an early age typically continue this behavior into adulthood, often escalating in the nature of offense (Chester et al., 2019). Early diagnosis

of these disabilities along with the proper education could help deter some of these juveniles from going down the path to criminal activities.

Mistaken for Attention Disorders or Co-occurring

Although there have been many studies that have focused on LDs more thorough research needs to be done on co-occurring conditions. Even though LDs within themselves need to be addressed if there is a co-occurring condition that is ignored there could still be unforeseen or unwanted results within these juveniles. There have been those that have voiced the need to be careful when interpreting results from this population as there has typically not been the consideration with these studies for these co-occurring conditions (O'Brien et al., 2007). One condition that has started emerging as co-occurring is attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (Maniadaki & Kakouros, 2010). This disorder could affect not only the impulsive nature of juveniles but also their aggression and defiance levels.

Summary

The rise in juvenile delinquency rates was a disturbing yet understandable trend. With the number of juveniles not getting the proper care and/or educational help needed to cope or maintain with their disabilities, it was more than fathomable that many would end up in the juvenile justice system. With issues having led from vulnerability and differential treatment to the school-to-prison pipeline and the shift in the purpose of the juvenile justice system, it would have seemed unavoidable that the system is overcrowded with youth. Not just any youth but many that suffered from disabilities that could have left them as prey to a system that they could not even understand. For those

youth, the rates of recidivism rose with their decreased lack of understanding. As these youth fall into the cycle of repeated offenses, their academic and emotional goals become not only things of the past but things that seem unobtainable.

It was known that there were links between delinquency and LDs, but there was much to be gained from a statistical standpoint. As most studies seemed to focus on disabilities in general, offenses, and the recidivism that typically followed not many looked at just the numbers. This study was meant to look at the numbers within one facility with regard to those in the system with and without LDs, not disabilities as a whole or mental health issues. This type of statistical information could have provided evidence of the necessity of certain programs for those with these disabilities. Programs that should help lower recidivism rates in this population as well as provide them with a more stable foundation to succeed within their community.

In this chapter, I focused on literature reflecting youth with learning disabilities along with their pathway through the juvenile justice system. Along with this there were risk factors leading to a higher likelihood of delinquency within this population as well as its impact on recidivism. There are some factors that dealt with shortcomings with regard to the school system and those dealing with feelings and frustrations felt and exhibited by the youth. The theoretical framework was a reflection on the works of Durkheim and Merton and their theories of anomie and strain. Chapter 3 focuses on the methodology used in the further completion of this study.

The purpose of this study was to determine if there was significance in the link between juvenile delinquency and LDs. It was also meant to reflect whether these types of delinquent youth warranted a more detailed exploration to see if there was a way to aide them in avoiding recidivism. The youth in this study were convicted juveniles within the South Carolina juvenile justice system.

In this chapter, I provide a more complete description of the study at hand as well as the methodology used for answering to the research questions. The research design and study population are also discussed in greater detail. Additionally, I explain the measures taken to collect and analyze the data as well as justify the specific analysis measures used.

Research Questions

Although there was existing literature addressing the research questions at hand, these previous studies tended to focus less on statistical significance and more on risk factors. When considering the frequency of learning-disabled youths becoming delinquent as opposed to those without these disabilities, studies like that of Chen et al. (2011), Chin (2019), and Barrett and Katsiyannis (2014) reflected this idea or conclusion. There were also studies that focused on specific actions or crimes committed by this population, like that of Tranah and Nicholas (2013) who focused on the crime of arson. When considering recidivism, previous studies have focused on different types of LDs that tended to lead to higher recidivism rates (i.e., O'Brien & Langhinrichsen-Rohling,

2007) or factors and programs that affected recidivism (i.e., Hart et al., 2011; Vacca, 2008).

With so many studies having focused on the nature of factors within this population that led to becoming a part of the juvenile justice system and recidivism, it was important to note the statistical importance of this population. In other words, I wanted to establish if there was statistical data showing that the money and time that would be spent on helping this population was warranted. The following research questions and corresponding hypotheses guided this study:

RQ1: What is the statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs?

 H_1 1: There is a high statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

 H_01 : There is no statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

RQ2: What is the statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs?

 H_12 : There is a high statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

 H_02 : There is no statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

Research Design

In this study, I employed a quantitative methodology to evaluate secondary data and determine whether there was statistical significance in the relationship between youth with LDs, juvenile delinquency, and recidivism. Conclusions were made from evaluating hypotheses, obtained secondary data, and analysis of the data. Using quantitative methodology was appropriate because secondary data were used to consider links between delinquency and recidivism with regard to LDs.

I collected data from conviction records from the SCDJJ and the SCDE. A request was made to the SC RFA for the data within the required time period. It was necessary to go through the SC RFA so the records of the juveniles in the SCDJJ could be linked to their records in the SCDE as the SCDJJ were not required to fill out the special needs/disability category. Data for this study were records collected and maintained by the state of South Carolina. The data consisted of juveniles' ages, crimes for which they were convicted, if it was their first offense, their last offense date, gender, presence or lack of LD, and race. This information was necessary to determine whether a juvenile had reoffended after an initial conviction.

Population and Sample Size

The sample population was youth convicted and incarcerated during the time periods of 2010 through 2019. I completed sampling using secondary data. The units of analysis were youth incarcerated during 2010–2019 in the South Carolina juvenile detention center data, which included data from all the facilities in the state. I evaluated the number of juveniles within this demographic to establish the extent to which it may

have influenced validity. To determine what youth to include in the current study, I mainly focused on those with LDs who could be compared to youth without LDs to determine a possible statistical significance based on the number of youths that were evaluated during this period. Because this comparison required all of the youth incarcerated during the established time period, there was an appropriate number of participants in the current study.

Statistical Tests

I used a Pearson chi-square test to test the null hypotheses and determine if there was any statistical significance in delinquent youth with LDs and their possibility of recidivism. Descriptive statistics and crosstabulation were also used to analyze the data in this study. The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software package was used to run these analyses. The results of this study could add to the existing knowledge concerning detained juveniles. A more comprehensive qualitative anomie/strain project could provide a fuller evaluation of the variables and factors for the incarcerated, learning-disabled youth population, including, but not limited to, mental health, education level of parents, race, class status, and the parents' criminal history or lack thereof.

Ethical Procedures

The data used in this study came from existing, secondary, archival data sources (IRB approval number: 08-23-21-1016313). The population consisted of youth offenders between the ages of 6 and 20 years old. Since juveniles are a protected class that typically require special considerations as research subjects, I used secondary data in this study to avoid any issues in this regard. This meant there was no direct contact with any of the

juveniles whose statistics and data were used in the study. The data from these juveniles was previously attained and is completely anonymous. The archival data came from the SCDJJ and the SCDE.

Summary

Current and future research will continue to observe juvenile delinquency, recidivism, and learning-disabled youth. With the continued numbers of juvenile incarceration, it was evident that a gap still remained within the literature on this topic. It is the responsibility of those working within the juvenile justice system to stay abreast of current literature regarding the juvenile justice system and make changes deemed necessary for the bettering of the youth involved in the system. Addressing the gap in the literature could also possibly help youth coming from impoverished or crime-ridden environments. The move from more of a rehabilitative or bettering mindset to that of punishment with regard to the juvenile justice system has not been one that has helped to curb recidivism (CITE). In this study, I focused on quantitatively establishing statistical links and viabilities between learning-disabled youth in the juvenile justice system and recidivism within this population. In Chapter 4, I will discuss the data collection process and results of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

In this chapter, I provide as the results of the data analysis. The purpose of this study was to determine the possible significance of LDs as a contributor to delinquency and recidivism among learning-disabled juvenile delinquents. For this study, recidivism was defined as acts committed that resulted in adjudication, rearrest, and a return to incarceration (see National Institute of Justice, 2021; Vacca, 2008). The following research questions and corresponding hypotheses guided this study:

RQ1: What is the statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs?

 H_11 : There is a high statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

 H_01 : There is no statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs.

RQ2: What is the statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs?

 H_12 : There is a high statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

 H_02 : There is no statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs.

Data Collection and Identification

I collected data for this study after putting in a request for the data in question from the SC RFA office. The request had to receive approval for the conduction of the

study and to link information on the juveniles between the SCDJJ and the SCDE. I used the SCDJJ information to derive data about juveniles incarcerated during the 2010–2019 time period and the SCDE data was used to link these juveniles to their disability status or lack thereof. Written consent was not necessary from the juveniles or their guardians because the information used was available to the public. As the researcher, I did have to sign a confidentiality agreement agreeing to protect the confidentiality of the juveniles included in the study.

The data consisted of RFA ID, decision charged script, decision charges weight, sex, race, client prior history, first referral date, last referral date, disability status, and school year. The incarcerated population during this time period was 15,900 juveniles with 2,633 of whom had a diagnosed LD.

Population Demographics

The study population demographics included race, gender, and age. The demographics for the incarcerated population as a whole during the 2010–2019 time period was as follows. American Indian/Alaskan Native individuals made up .2% (n=31) of the study population, one of the smaller populations. Asian or Pacific Islander individuals made up .1% (n=13) of the population, the smallest population in the study. Black individuals made up 62.2% (n=9,889) of the population, the largest population in the study. Hispanic individuals made up 2.9% (456) of the population. Individuals categorized as Other made up 1.4% (n=218) of the population. White individuals made up 33.3% (n=5,293) of the population, the second largest population in the study.

The breakdown of races within the learning-disabled population was similar in percentage to that of the population as a whole. The percentages were the same for the American Indian/Alaskan Native and Asian or Pacific Islander races, .2% (n = 4) and .1% (n = 2), respectively. The Black race showed a slight increase, making up a 63.2% (n = 1,664) of the learning-disabled population. The Hispanic race showed a slight increase with 3.4% (n = 89) of the learning-disabled population. The Other race showed a slight increase with 1.9% (n = 50), while the White race showed the only slight decrease with 31.3% (n = 824) of the learning-disabled population.

The frequency of the gender in the juveniles incarcerated during the study period showed a much greater number of males than females. Males represented 81.5% (n = 12,955) of the total population (N = 15,900), while females only represented 18.5% (n = 2,945) of the population.

With regard to gender frequency within the learning-disabled population, the results reflected a similar trend and percentage. Males represented 82.1% (n = 2,162) of the total learning-disabled population (N = 2,633) and the females represented 17.9% (n = 471).

Of the 15,900 juveniles, the youngest age was 6 years old, while the oldest was 20 years old. The mean age for the juveniles within this population was 15.3 years old. I calculated the standard deviation (SD = 1.206) to reflect how the ages of the juveniles varied from the average age of juveniles incarcerated during the study period. There was

a coefficient of variation of .079 or 7.9%, which reflected a low percentage of variation between the ages of the juveniles in this population.

Of the 2,633 juveniles in the learning-disabled population, the youngest age was 10 years old, while the oldest was 20 years old. The mean age for the juveniles within this population was 15.3 years old. In this population, the standard deviation was 1.251. There was a coefficient of variation of .082 or 8.2%, which reflected a low percentage of variation between the ages of the juveniles in this population. The descriptive statistics of the LD population reflected similar numbers to that of the whole population.

Chi-Square Tests

I used chi-square tests in this study as a way of comparing gender with recidivism and whether gender had an influence on the likelihood of recidivism. Table 1 displays the results of this test on the whole incarcerated juvenile population of the study. Although the value and the degree of freedom are shown, the asymptotic significance or p value gives the significance of the results. The p value of .091 was not significant because p > .05. This result showed the lack of a significant association between gender and recidivism.

Table 1Chi-Square Tests Within Whole Population Based on Gender

	Value	Df	Asymptotic Significance (2- sided)
Pearson chi-square	4.802	2	.091
Likelihood ratio	5.176	2	.075
N of valid cases	15,900		

The chi-square test for gender and recidivism within the learning-disabled population is shown in Table 2. The p value of .392 was not significant because p > .05. This result showed the lack of a significant association between gender and recidivism within the learning-disabled population.

Table 2

Chi-Square Tests Within Learning-Disabled Population Based on Gender

	Value	Df	Asymptotic Significance (2- sided)
Pearson chi-square	.732	1	.392
Likelihood ratio	.768	1	.381
N of valid cases	2,633		

Recidivism

As one of the research questions dealt with recidivism, the following tables addressed recidivism within the population of this study. Table 3 reflects the recidivism numbers within both the learning-disabled and the non-learning-disabled population. The non-learning-disabled population recidivated at far greater numbers than those who did not recidivate with 12,859 juveniles to 408 juveniles, respectively. Within the learning-

disabled population, the numbers showed a similar trend with 2,531 juveniles recidivating compared to 102 juveniles not recidivating.

Table 3Recidivism Rates for Total Population

Recidivism	LD	Non-LD	Total
No	102	408	510
Yes	2,531	12,859	15,390
Total	2,633	13,267	15,900

Another consideration for recidivism was that of gender, so it was necessary to note the amount of recidivism among genders, as shown in Table 4. For the learning-disabled population, females recidivated more than not with 456 juveniles to 15 juveniles. As for the males, 2,075 juveniles recidivated while 87 did not.

 Table 4

 Recidivism by Gender Within the Learning-Disabled Population

Gender	No	Yes	Total
Female	15	456	471
Male	87	2,075	2,162
Total	102	2,531	2,633

It was also necessary to consider the data for those juveniles that were not learning disabled to compare the recidivism rates within both populations. Table 5 shows information related to gender with regard to recidivism in the non-learning-disabled population of this study. For this population, 2,377 females recidivated compared to 97 who did not. As for the males, 10,482 recidivated while 311 did not.

 Table 5

 Recidivism by Gender Within non-Learning-Disabled Population

Gender	No	Yes	Total
Female	97	2,377	2,474
Male	311	10,482	10,793
Total	408	12,859	13,267

Findings Summary

Research Question 1

In an effort to answer this question, I conducted a chi-square test to determine if there was statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs. The independent variables were the learning-disabled juveniles and non-learning-disabled juveniles. The dependent variable was delinquency. The chi-square test revealed that there was no statistically significant difference. With a p value of .36, there is no significance because p > .05. Because there is no statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs, the null hypothesis was rejected.

Research Question 2

In an effort to answer this question, I conducted a chi-square test to determine if there was statistical significance in juveniles with LDs succumbing to recidivism versus those without LDs. The independent variables were the learning-disabled juveniles and non-learning-disabled juveniles. The dependent variable was recidivism. The chi-square test revealed that there was a statistically significant difference. With a p value of .034, there is significance because p < .05. There is a high statistical significance in recidivism

among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs, resulting in a failure to reject the null hypothesis.

In Chapter 5, I will provide my interpretation of the findings. The chapter will also include a discussion of the nature of study, theoretical framework, limitations of the study, recommendations, and implications.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to determine the statistical significance between LDs, delinquency, and recidivism. It has been suggested that there is a high prevalence of youth with LDs within the juvenile justice system and learning-disabled juveniles have a tendency to have more interaction with the justice system than those lacking these disabilities (Nkoana et al., 2020; Rucklidge, 2013). Some of the percentages suggested for the number of incarcerated juveniles with learning disabilities range from 10% to 32% (Borschmann et al., 2020). The results of this study showed that within the SCDJJ during the years of 2010–2019, the percentage of the incarcerated population that were diagnosed with a LD was 16.56%, falling on the lower end of the range suggested by previous research.

With respect to recidivism, there have been studies like that of Smeets (2014) who suggested that special education needs like that of students with LDs is a good predictor for recidivism. Although the majority of the learning-disabled juveniles in the current study succumbed to recidivism (i.e., 96.13%), this only accounted for 16.45% (i.e., 2,531 of 15,390) of the whole recidivism population within the SCDJJ during the study period. Compared to the 83.55% of the whole recidivism population, the recidivism numbers of the learning-disabled students were much lower when accounting for contributions to recidivism within the SCDJJ population. When examining the amount of recidivism that occurred, the learning-disabled population contributed to a 15.92% recidivism rate compared to their nondisabled counterparts with an 80.87% recidivism rate of the SCDJJ population as a whole. Although the numbers were high within the learning-disabled

population for recidivism, this population was a relatively small percentage of the recidivism that occurred within the population as a whole.

Nature of Study

In this quantitative study, I employed a design that used secondary data that was consistent with determining the significance or lack thereof in the links between juvenile delinquency and LDs. The results showed the different significance levels in the two populations (i.e., learning-disabled and non-learning-disabled juveniles) and their different statistical aspects. This quantitative analysis also showed significance in the link between LDs and recidivism as opposed to those without LDs. The results also indicated the lack of a significant link between LDs and juvenile delinquency

There were three variables of focus of in this study: The independent variable was the learning-disabled juveniles, while the dependent variables were delinquency and recidivism. Data from this study were provided by the SCDJJ and the SCDE by way of the SC RFA. There was a total of 15,900 juveniles, of whom 2,633 possessed LDs. The juveniles were between the ages of 6 and 20 years old. The time period of focus was for juveniles incarcerated in the SCDJJ system was between January 2010 and December 2019. The following research questions were addressed and answered in the study:

RQ1: What is the statistical significance in juveniles with LDs becoming delinquent versus those without LDs?

RQ2: What is the statistical significance in recidivism among juveniles with LDs versus those without LDs?

Interpretation of the Findings

I conducted a Pearson chi-square test to answer each research question. The results for Research Question 1 indicated no significant statistical significance in juvenile delinquency risk between learning-disabled juveniles and juveniles without LDs. After calculating the results, I rejected the null hypothesis. The statistical finding for Research Question 1 was a p value of .36, showing no significance because p > .05. Research Question 2 addressed the possible statistical significance in recidivism risk between learning-disabled juveniles and those without LDs. The results indicated a significant difference in recidivism risk between the two groups. In this instance, I rejected the null hypothesis. The statistical finding for Research Question 2 was a p value of .034, showing a significance because p < .05.

LDs were the focus of this study as was how they may or may not affect the likelihood of juvenile delinquency and recidivism. Many of the findings confirmed things that were described in the previous literature. Nearly a third of the total juvenile population in this study committed probation violations. Males had a higher likelihood of both delinquency and recidivism in both learning-disabled and non-learning-disabled populations.

Theoretical Framework

From a theoretical perspective, it can be said that the struggle of LD youth within their educational constraints might lead to delinquency and, in turn, recidivism. As their disability can lead to a lack of educational success, studies have suggested this can be a factor leading to delinquency (Lo et al., 2018; Yu et al., 2019). Many of the juveniles

could also be considered to be falling in line with some of Merton's five adaptations of anomie, mainly conformity, innovation, and/or rebellion. Because it was not the purpose of this study to reflect on what personal obstacles or impediments outside of LDs may have led to the path of delinquency and/or recidivism, this study only showed statistical data.

Limitations of the Study

One of the limitations I encountered while conducting this study was the use of the SCDJJ real time data and trends website (https://djj.sc.gov/research-and-data/interactive-reports). Since some of the data given on this website dealt with approximate numbers, it was necessary to request the specific information needed for the population under study during the time period in question from the website using a data request form. Although there was a timely response from the statistician answering requests from the website, I determined that all of the information that would be required for this study would not be available and accurate through just the SCDJJ.

Another limitation of the study was that it was necessary to go through another agency to get the information needed with regard to the disability status of the juveniles incarcerated in the SCDJJ for the period that was in question. The SCDJJ has some information about disabilities but because it is not a field of information they are required to fill and include in records; the information would not be the most accurate. This required me to go through the SC RFA to access records from the SCDE to get information about juveniles' disability status. Through my request, the SC RFA was able to get the information from the SCDJJ and the SCDE as well as link the information for

the juveniles using an RFA ID. Through this linkage I was able to see both the SCDJJ information and the SCDE information regarding any disability these juveniles had on record.

The last limitation was in the way of factors leading to delinquency and recidivism. Because I had no contact with the juveniles included in the study, it was impossible to determine any of the factors leading to their incarceration whether these factors were related to their inability to understand rules, comprehend expectations of probation, peer pressure, or a general lack of regard. Statistical data were helpful in determining delinquency and recidivism but not the factors that led juveniles to take part in either.

Recommendations

Further research on the topic is needed from a more qualitative standpoint.

Although this study was helpful from a statistical standpoint, there were many angles dealing with LDs and delinquency that could not be addressed through statistical means. There are some things like mindsets, factors, and backgrounds that would be more appropriately determined with a more engaging and hands-on type of study. The results from a more engaging study could be helpful when considering changes within the juvenile judicial system and educational departments that would be most helpful for a juvenile based on their background and ability to understand and comprehend.

It would also be helpful to include the school system in future research. Because the school is where most juveniles spend most of their time outside of the home, it would be a place where a researcher would likely observe the most about the juveniles. Since past studies have suggested that criminal behavior is linked to academic success (Vacca, 2018), including information from schools would prove a good source. I would also recommend that future research include more programs focused on identifying those with LDs and helping them achieve more academic success. Studies have shown that more academic success leads to less delinquency and recidivism within this populations (Hirschinger-Blank et al. 2019).

Implications

The findings of this study showed the high level of delinquency and recidivism in the incarcerated juvenile population in South Carolina, especially among those that were learning disabled. The high level of recidivism within the learning-disabled juveniles that were incarcerated during the study period conveys the need for further evaluation. The findings of this study provide a place to start this further evaluation from. Since the learning-disabled population is smaller, it would be a better sample population when considering the development of new programs or other ways to better affect these juveniles and try to lower recidivism numbers. The SCDE would be an ideal place to start with regarding educational programming because the SCDE already has information on the incarcerated juvenile population concerning their disabilities. Because the SCDE already has the resources to establish educational programs catering to the specific needs of certain populations, they seem to be an ideal point of focus to help in lowering these recidivism rates. Lowering these recidivism numbers would go a long way toward creating more functional members of society among this population.

Another area that could use some attention from policymakers and the DJJ would be with the requirements for the SCDJJ. It would be helpful to have LDs and disabilities in general as a required category that has to be completed for a juvenile during intake. This information would provide not only a more accurate picture of the juvenile in question but how best to help them if it is known that they possess some type of disability that could use some extra time or attention.

Conclusion

In this study, I examined the likelihood and significance of LDs affecting juveniles with regard to their delinquency and recidivism. South Carolina showed not only a high recidivism level among juveniles with LDs but also for those without LDs. With continued scholarly attention and research, more ways can be developed to help these youth decrease their recidivism rate. Policy changes regarding these juveniles could lead to lower numbers of delinquency with regard to juvenile incarceration.

References

- Amitay, G., & Gumpel, T. (2015). Academic self-efficacy as a resilience factor among adjudicated girls. *International Journal of Adolescence & Youth*, 20(2), 202–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2013.785437
- Antonaccio, O., Smith, W. R., & Gostjev, F. A. (2015). Anomic strain and external constraints: A reassessment of Merton's anomie/strain theory using data from Ukraine. *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology*, 59(10), 1079–1103. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X14533071
- Baker, S., Ireland, & Jane L. (2007). The link between dyslexic traits, executive functioning, impulsivity and social self-esteem among an offender and non-offender sample. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry 30*, 492–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlp.2007.09.010
- Barrett, D. E., Katsiyannis, A., Zhang, D., & Zhang, D. (2014). Delinquency and recidivism: A multicohort, matched-control study of the role of early adverse experiences, mental health problems, and disabilities. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 22(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426612470514
- Bell, C. (2016). Special needs under siege: From classrooms to incarceration. *Sociology Compass*, 10(8), 698–705. https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12392
- Berryessa, C. M., & Reeves, J. (2020). Criminology: The perceptions of juvenile judges regarding adolescent development in evaluating juvenile competency. *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 110, 551.
- Birckhead, T. R. (2013). Seventh annual criminal law symposium: Juveniles & criminal

- law: Panel 2: Do (should) juveniles have more, less, the same, or different rights than adults?: Closing the widening net: The rights of juveniles at intake. *Texas Tech Law Review*, 46, 157.
- Bonjar, A. B. (2017). Investigate the relationship between socio-economic class and tendency to delinquency among students of Rey City in Tehran. *International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*, 12(4), 851–864.
- Borschmann, R., Janca, E., Carter, A., Willoughby, M., Hughes, N., Snow, K., Stockings,
 E., Hill, N., Hocking, J., Love, A., Patton, G. C., Sawyer, S. M., Fazel, S.,
 Puljević, C., Robinson, J., & Kinner, S. A. (2020). The health of adolescents in detention: a global scoping review. *Lancet Public Health*, 5(2), e114–e126.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30217-8
- Brier, N. (1994). Targeted treatment of adjudicated youth with learning disabilities: Effects on recidivism. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 27, 215–222.
- Cavendish, W. (2014). Academic attainment during commitment and post release education—related outcomes of juvenile justice-involved youth with and without disabilities. *Journal of Emotional & Behavioral Disorders*, 22(1), 41-52. https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426612470516
- Chin, D. (2017). Will the juvenile justice system ever learn? How minors with learning disabilities can find remedies in problem-solving courts. *Family Court**Review, 55(4), 618. https://doi.org/10.1111/fcre.12308
- Chen, C.-C., Culhane, D. P., Metraux, S., Park, J. M., Venable, J. C., & Burnett, T. C. (2016). They're not all at home: Residential placements of early adolescents in

- special education. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 24(4), 247–256.
- Chen, C.-C., Symons, F. J., & Reynolds, A. J. (2011). Prospective analyses of childhood factors and antisocial behavior for students with high-incidence disabilities. *Behavioral Disorders*, *37*(1), 5–

 18.https://doi.org/10.1177/019874291103700102
- Chester, V., Wells, H., Lovell, M., Melvin, C., & Tromans, S. J. (2019). The prevention of offending behaviour by people with intellectual disabilities: a case for specialist childhood and adolescent early intervention. *Advances in Mental Health* & *Intellectual Disabilities*, 13(5), 216–227. https://doi.org/10.1108/AMHID-03-2019-0008
- Chitsabesan, P., Bailey, S., Williams, R., Kroll, L., Kenning, C., & Talbot, L. (2007).

 Learning disabilities and educational needs of juvenile offenders. *Journal of Children's Services*, 2(4), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1108/17466660200700032
- Cruise, K. R., Evans, L. J., & Pickens, I. B. (2011). Integrating mental health and special education needs into comprehensive service planning for juvenile offenders in long-term custody settings. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 21(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2010.11.004
- Cunningham, L. (2004). Substantive limitations on the power of family courts to commit delinquent juveniles to state custody: Analysis and critique. *Syracuse Law Review*, 55, 87.
- DiCristina, B. (2016). Durkheim's theory of anomie and crime: A clarification and elaboration. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 49(3), 311–331.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0004865815585391Durkheim, E. (1897). Suicide: A study in sociology. The Free Press

- Evans, M. K., Clinkinbeard, S. S., & Simi, P. (2015). Learning disabilities and delinquent behaviors among adolescents: A comparison of those with and without comorbidity. *Deviant Behavior*, *36*(3), 200–220.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2014.924361 Fyson, R. (2007). Young people with learning disabilities who sexually harm others: The role of criminal justice within a multi-agency response. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *35*(3), 181–186. https://doi.org/0.1111/j.1468-3156.2007.00457
- Gagnon, J. C., & National Collaborative on Workforce and Disability for Youth. (2018).

 Making the right turn: A research update on improving transition outcomes among youth involved in the juvenile corrections system. Research Brief.

 National Collaborative on Workforce and Disability for Youth, 3. National Collaborative on Workforce and Disability for Youth.
- Geis, L. M. (2014). An IEP for the juvenile justice system: Incorporating special education law throughout the delinquency process. *University of Memphis Law Review*, 44(4), 869–919.
- Gordon, M. R. (2010). It doesn't have to end this way: The Minnesota Supreme Court declares that the sentence of life without release as imposed on a juvenile is neither cruel nor unusual in STATE v. MARTIN. William Mitchell Law Review, 36, 1271.
- Grigorenko, E. L., Hart, L., Hein, S., Kovalenko, J., & Naumova, O. Y. (2019). Improved

- educational achievement as a path to desistance. *New Directions for Child & Adolescent Development*, 2019(165), 111–135. https://doi.org/10.1002/cad.20290
- Grigorenko, E. L., Macomber, D., Hart, L., Naples, A., Chapman, J., Geib, C. F., Chart, H., Tan, M., Wolhendler, B., & Wagner, R. (2015). Academic achievement among juvenile detainees. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 48(4), 359–368. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219413500991
- Gann, S. M. (2019). Examining the relationship between race and juvenile court decision-making: A counterfactual approach. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*.
- Hart, L., Naples, A., Chapman, J., Chart, H., D, A. A., Foley-Geib, C., Macomber, D.,
 Skiba, T., Tan, M., & Grigorenko, E. L. (2012). The development and evaluation of an educational placement screener for youths in pretrial detention. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 28(4), 321–328.
 https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000113
- Hellenbach, M. (2012). Learning disabilities and criminal justice: custody sergeants' perceptions of alleged offenders with learning disabilities. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 40(1), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3156.2011.00677.x
- Hirschinger-Blank, N., Staulters, M., Sharma, S., O'Neill Hajduk, M., & Toler, R. (2019). A university-based literacy service-learning program for youthful offenders on probation: A preliminary study of the program's development, implementation and feasibility. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, *30*(3), 407–423. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511253.2018.1543438

- Ho, T., & Rocheleau, G. C. (2020). A Follow-up study on recidivism among adjudicated juveniles with special education in the juvenile correctional facility. *Youth Justice*, 20(3), 328–343. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473225420923764
- Hoogsteder, L. M., Stams, G.-J. J. M., Schippers, E. E., & Bonnes, D. (2018). Responsive Aggression Regulation Therapy (Re-ART): An evaluation study in a Dutch juvenile justice institution in terms of recidivism. *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology*, 62(13), 4403–4424. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X18761267
- Houchins, D. E., Jimenez, E., Langley, N., Plescow, K., & Henrich, C. C. (2021).

 Predictors of self-determination and mental health symptoms among youth in juvenile justice facilities. *Behavioral Disorders*, 138–148. https://doi-org./10.1177/0198742920911182
- Hughes, L. A., Antonaccio, O., & Botchkovar, E. V. (2018). Neighborhoods, individuals, and instrumental crime in Russia and Ukraine: A multilevel test of Merton's anomie theory. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 34(4), 1019–1046.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10940-017-9364-7
- Inderbitzin, M., Bates, K. A., & Gainey, R. R. (2016). *Deviance and social control: A sociological perspective*: Sage Publications.
- Jones, G., & Talbot, J. (2010). No one knows: The bewildering passage of offenders with learning disability and learning difficulty through the criminal justice system. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 20(1), 1–7.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/cbm

- Kincaid, A. P., & Sullivan, A. L. (2019). Double jeopardy? Disproportionality in first juvenile court involvement by disability status. *Exceptional Children*, 85(4), 453–470. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402918819101
- Krezmien, M. P., Mulcahy, C. A., & Leone, P. E. (2008). Detained and committed youth: Examining differences in achievement, mental health needs, and special education status. *Education & Treatment of Children*. West Virginia University Press, *31*(4), 445–464. https://doi.org/10.1353/etc.0.0029
- Kumagami, T., & Kumagai, K. (2014). Measuring adjustment in Japanese juvenile delinquents with learning disabilities using Japanese version of Kaufman Assessment Battery for Children II. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 68(10), 768–775. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12187
- Lo, C. C., Cheng, T. C., Bohm, M., & Zhong, H. (2018). Rural-to-urban migration, strain, and juvenile delinquency: A study of eighth-grade students in Guangzhou, China. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative*Criminology, 62(2), 334–359. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X16650236
- Mallett, C. A. (2013). *Linking disorders to delinquency: treating high-risk youth in the juvenile justice system*. FirstForumPress, a division of Lynne Rienner Publishers
- Mallett, C. A. (2014). The "learning disabilities to juvenile detention" pipeline: A case study. *Children & Schools*, *36*(3), 147–154. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdu010
- Maniadaki, K., & Kakouros, E. (2011). Attention problems and learning disabilities in young offenders in detention in Greece. *Psychology*, 2(1), 53-59. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2011.21009

- Mathews, I. (2018). Representations of vulnerability, innocence and evil in the murder of a disabled person. *Disability & Society*, *33*(10), 1620–1638. https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2018.1504745
- McKenzie, K., Paxton, D., Michie, A., Murray, G., Murray, A., & Curtis, J. (2012).

 Screening with young offenders with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 23(5/6), 676–688.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2012.733723
- McNamara, J. K., & Willoughby, T. (2010). A longitudinal study of risk-taking behavior in adolescents with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 25(1), 11–24.
- Merton, R.K. (1957). Social structure and anomie. *Social Theory and Social Structure*.

 The Free Press
- Mosotho, N. L., Bambo, D., Mkhombo, T., Mgidlana, C., Motsumi, N., Matlhabe, T., Joubert, G., & Roux, H. E. L. (2020). Demographic, clinical and forensic profiling of alleged offenders diagnosed with an intellectual disability. *Journal of Forensic Psychology Research and Practice*, 20(4), 362–376.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/24732850.2020.1742004
- National Institute of Justice. Recidivism. https://nij.ojp.gov/topics/corrections/recidivism
- Nelson, C. M. (2014). Students with learning and behavioral disabilities and the school-to-prison pipeline: How we got here, and what we might do about it. Emerald Group Publishing, 27. https://doi.org/10.1108/S0735-004X20140000027007
- Nkoana, W., Williams, H., Steenkamp, N., Clasby, B., Knowler, H., & Schrieff, L.

- (2020). Understanding the educational needs of young offenders: A prevalence study of traumatic brain injury and learning disabilities. *International Journal of Educational Development*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2020.102261
- Nyokangi, D., & Phasha, N. (2016). Factors contributing to sexual violence at selected schools for learners with mild intellectual disability in South Africa. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 29(3), 231–241.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jar.12173
- O'Brien, N., Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J., & Shelley-Tremblay, J. (2007). Reading problems, attentional deficits, and current mental health status in adjudicated adolescent males. *Journal of Correctional Education*, 58(3), 293–315.
- Ochoa, T. A. (2016). Improving transition support for juvenile offenders with disabilities through a collaborative approach. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, 52(1), 44–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451216630291
- Oshima, K. M. M., Huang, J., Jonson-Reid, M., & Drake, B. (2010). Children with disabilities in poor households: association with juvenile and adult offending. *Social Work Research*, *34*(2), 102. https://doi.org/10.1093/swr/34.2.102
- Poon, K., & Suk-Han Ho, C. (2015). Contrasting psychosocial outcomes in Chinese delinquent adolescents with attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder symptoms and/or reading disability. *Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 26(1), 38–59. https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2014.960439
- Read, N. W. (2014). NDTAC fact sheet: Youth with special education needs in justice

- *settings*. Washington, DC: National Evaluation and Technical Assistance Center for Children and Youth Who Are Neglected, Delinquent, or At-Risk (NDTAC).
- Riley, M., & Hayes, H. (2018). Youth restorative justice conferencing: facilitator's language help or hindrance? *Contemporary Justice Review*, 21(1), 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/10282580.2017.1413358
- Rucklidge, J. J., McLean, A. P., & Bateup, P. (2013). Criminal offending and learning disabilities in New Zealand youth: Does reading comprehension predict recidivism? *Crime & Delinquency*, *59*(8), 1263–1286.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1063426612470514
- Savolainen, J., Eisman, A., Mason, W. A., Schwartz, J. A., Miettunen, J., & Järvelin, M.-R. (2018). Socioeconomic disadvantage and psychological deficits: Pathways from early cumulative risk to late-adolescent criminal conviction. *Journal of Adolescence*, 65, 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.02.010
- Segeren, M. W., Fassaert, T. J. L., Kea, R., de Wit, M. A. S., & Popma, A. (2018).
 Exploring differences in criminogenic risk factors and criminal behavior between young adult violent offenders with and without mild to borderline intellectual disability. *International Journal of Offender Therapy & Comparative Criminology*, 62(4), 978–999. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306624X16674009
- Selenius, H., Daderman, A. M., & Hellstrom, A. (2006). Memory performance in dyslexic male juvenile delinquents convicted of severe offences does not differ from that in dyslexic male junior college students. *The World Journal of Biological Psychiatry*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1080/15622970510029975

- Shandra, C., & Hogan, D. (2012). Delinquency among adolescents with disabilities. *Child Indicators Research*, *5*(4), 771–788. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-012-9135-9
- Shelley-Tremblay, J., O'Brien, N., & Langhinrichsen-Rohling, J. (2007). Reading disability in adjudicated youth: Prevalence rates, current models, traditional and innovative treatments. *Aggression & Violent Behavior*, 12(3), 376–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2006.07.003
- Shelton, D. (2006). A study of young offenders with learning disabilities. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 12(1), 36–44.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1078345806287573
- Slaughter, A. M., Hein, S., Hong, J. H., Mire, S. S., & Grigorenko, E. L. (2019). Criminal behavior and school discipline in juvenile justice-involved youth with autism. *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 49(6), 2268–2280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-03883-8
- Smeets, E. (2014). Education in young offender institutions and secure youth care institutions. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 20(1), 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2013.872040
- South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice. (n.d.). *SCDJJ reports home page*. https://publicreporting.scdjj.net/
- South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice. (2019). South Carolina Department of Juvenile Justice data resource guide 2018-2019.
- Stanford, S. & Muhammad, B. (2018). The confluence of language and learning disorders

- and the school-to-prison pipeline among minority students of color: A critical race theory. *American University Journal of Gender, Social Policy, and the Law*, 26(2), 691.
- Tranah, T., & Nicholas, J. (2013). Interventions for young people with intellectual disabilities who commit arson. *Advances in Mental Health & Intellectual Disabilities*, 7(2), 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1108/20441281311310162
- Vacca, J. S. (2008). Crime can be prevented if schools teach juvenile offenders to read. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *30*(9), 1055–1062. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2008.01.013
- van Vugt, E., Asscher, J., Stams, G. J., Hendriks, J., Bijleveld, C., & van der Laan, P. (2011). Moral judgment of young sex offenders with and without intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 32(6), 2841–2846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2011.05.022
- Weinberg, L. A., & Smith, J. M. (2019). Interagency collaboration within juvenile detention to appropriately serve youth with developmental disabilities. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 103, 166–172.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.06.006
- When is a child too young for juvenile court? A comparative case study of state law and implementation in six major metropolitan areas. (2020) *Crime & Delinquency*.
- Yu, Y., Gao, Y., & Atkinson-Sheppard, S. (2019). Pathways to delinquency for street children in China: Institutional anomie, resilience and crime. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 102, 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.05.012

Zembroski, D. (2011). Sociological theories of crime and delinquency. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 21(3), 240–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.564553

Zhang, D., Hsu, H.-Y., Katsiyannis, A., Barrett, D. E., & Ju, S. (2011). Adolescents with disabilities in the juvenile justice system: patterns of recidivism. *Exceptional Children*, 77(3), 283-296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128709336945